
Mine Health and Safety Council

Annual Report 2010/2011



PUBLICATION AND COPYRIGHT NOTICE

Title: Mine Health and Safety Council Annual Report 2010/11

ISBN: 978-1-919853-44-4

RP number: RP 10/11

Edition: First

Date of publication: June 2011 

Mine Health and Safety Council

This publication holds copyright under the Berne Convention. In terms of the Copyright Act, No. 98 of 1978,

no part of this publication may be reproduced without full acknowledgment to the Mine Health and Safety

Council.

PHYSICAL ADDRESS: POSTAL ADDRESS: 

Mine Health and Safety Council Mine Health and Safety Council

B7 Maple North, Woodmead Business Park Private Bag X63,

145 Western Service Road, Braamfontein 2017

Woodmead 2191 South Africa South Africa

Tel. no: +27 11 656 1797

Fax. no: +27 11 656 1796

Website: http://www.mhsc.org.za

c



OUR VISION
A regulatory framework and climate that produces safe and healthy working

conditions for mineworkers and communities affected by mining.

OUR MISSION
To facilitate sustained improvement of occupational health and safety at
mines through focused research and guidance on best practice, effective
policy advice and legislation, and the development of a pervasive culture

of health and safety.
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Terms and Definitions

•   Chief Inspector means the officer appointed in terms of section 48(1) of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996, and includes any officer

acting in that capacity. 

•   Council means the Mine Health and Safety Council established in terms of section 41(1) of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996.

•  Hazard means a source of, or exposure to, danger.

•  Health refers to occupational health at mines.

•   Health hazard means any physical, chemical or biological hazard to health including anything declared to be a health hazard by the

Minister.

•  Minister means the South African Minister of Mineral Resources.

•  Occupational health includes occupational hygiene and occupational medicine.

•   Occupational hygiene means the anticipation, recognition, evaluation and control of conditions at a mine that may cause illness or

adverse health effects to persons.

•   Occupational medicine means the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness, injury and adverse health effects associated with a

particular type of work.

•   Risk means the likelihood that occupational injury or harm to persons will occur.

•   SIM refers to MHSC research projects. The 6-number digit indicates a Period/Thrust Area/Allocation, for example, SIM 04

09 07 refers to research approved during 2004, within the Thrust area No. 9, (Special Projects), and allocated the random

number seven.        

•   Strategic objectives represent organisational outcomes that are critical to the achievement of the MHSC’s mission for

a period of five to ten years. Key activities and sub-activities are the output necessary to achieve the strategic objectives.

AIDS Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AMD Acid Mine Drainage 
ATR Annual Training Report 
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer 
CIOM Chief Inspector of Mines
CoP Code of Practice 
CROO Chief Research and Operations Officer 
CSIR Council of Scientific and Industrial Research 
DMR Department of Mineral Resources
DoL Department of Labour 
HIRA Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment
HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HR Human Resources
ICOH International Congress on Occupational Health
ILO International Labour Organisation
IPR Intellectual Property Right
MHSA  Mine Health and Safety Act (No. 29 of 1996,

amended 1997, amended 2008)

MHSC Mine Health and Safety Council (‘Council’) 
MHSI  Mine Health and Safety Inspectorate

(‘Inspectorate’)  
MOHAC   Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee
MRAC Mining Regulations Advisory Committee
MQA Mining Qualifications Authority
NIHL Noise Induced Hearing Loss
OHS Occupational Health and Safety
PATHAUT Pathology Autopsy Database 
PFMA Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999)
SANS South African National Standards
SAMRASS  South African Mines Reportable Accidents

Statistical System   
SCM Supply Chain Management  
SIMRAC Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee
TB Tuberculosis
WSP Workplace Skills Plan

GLOSSARY

Acronyms and Abbreviations
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““The MHSC continues to work tirelessly to make a meaningful
contribution towards the realization of ZERO HARM at South African
mines. Reaching the industry’s 2013 milestones is indeed a
mammoth task that calls for dedication and co-operation”



Mine Health and Safety Council Annual Report 2010/2011

7 MHSC Annual Report  l  2010/2011

Over
It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report of the

Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC) to

stakeholders. This publication covers all our endeavors

in the 2010/11 Financial Year to effectively facilitate a

sustained improvement in occupational health and

safety in the mining industry.  

The Mine Health and Safety Council is a national public

entity established in terms of the Mine Health and

Safety Act (MHSA), No 29 of 1996, as amended. The

entity comprises a tripartite board represented by

State, Employer, and Labour members under the

chairmanship of the Chief Inspector of Mines. The

MHSC is funded by health and safety levies from mines

and is accountable to Parliament through the Mineral

Resources Ministry.

The main task of the Council, as governed by Section

43 and 44 of the amended MHSA, is to advise the

Minister of Mineral Resources on all occupational

health and safety issues in the mining industry

relating to legislation, research and promotion. The

Council also:  

•   Reviews and develops legislation for recommen-

dation to the Minister;

•  Promotes health and safety in the mining industry;

•   Oversees research in relation to health and safety in

the mining industry; and 

•    Liaises with other statutory bodies about mine

health and safety. 

The MHSC continues to work tirelessly to make a

meaningful contribution towards the realisation of

ZERO HARM at South African mines. Reaching the

industry’s 2013 milestones is indeed a mammoth

task that calls for dedication and co-operation. It is

gratifying to note that in comparison with the same

period in 2009, the safety performance for January

to December 2010 shows a 24% reduction in

fatalities, falling from 168 in 2009 to 127 the

following year. 

The reduction exceeded the annual target of a 20%

year-on-year improvement, as set in 2003. Despite

the reduction, however, the MHSC is still concerned

that workers continue to die in the line of duty. 

To ensure effective delivery on its mandate, the

MHSC established Committees to fast-track the

processes.  These are:

•   SIMRAC - Safety in Mines Research Advisory

Committee

•    MRAC - Mining Regulations Advisory Committee

•   MOHAC - Mining Occupational Health Advisory

Committee.

David Msiza
Acting Chairperson: Mine Health and Safety Council
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These committees comprise resourceful members

who are entrusted with providing guidance on rele-

vant aspects of mine health and safety. In addition,

The Audit and Risk Committee was established to

advise the Council on compliance with relevant

legislation.

As part of its mandate to advise the Minister on all

matters relating to mine health and safety, the MHSC

has submitted numerous advisory reports to the

Minister, including reports on Acid Mine Drainage and

the Chilean Mine Disaster. 

Supported by its Executive Management and staff, the

MHSC has realised a comforting organisational stability

by putting in place correct strategies which, we believe,

will guarantee the smooth operation of all activities

going forward. 

Another significant highlight was the changes in the
leadership of the entity, with the former Chief
Executive Officer moving on after the expiry of her
contract. The new CEO was engaged just prior to the
close of the financial year while the CFO was
appointed in the second half of the financial year. The
executives have completed significant consolidation and
refocusing of the entity to ensure an improved service
offering to all stakeholders.

I would like to express gratitude to all MHSC, SIMRAC,
MOHAC, MRAC and Audit and Risk Committee
members, and to our stakeholders and staff for devoting
their energy to driving the MHSC to where it is today.

David Msiza

Acting Chairperson: Mine Health and Safety Council
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““The main task of the Council is to advise the Minister of 
Mineral Resources on occupational health and safety legislation
and research outcomes focused on improving and promoting
occupational health and safety in South African mines”
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4.1 Mandate 

The Mine Health and Safety Council is a national
public entity (Schedule 3A) established in terms of
the Mine Health and Safety Act, No 29 of 1996, as
amended. The entity comprises a tripartite board
represented by State, Employer, and Labour
members under the chairmanship of the Chief
Inspector of Mines. The MHSC is funded by health
and safety levies collected from mines and is
accountable to Parliament through the Department
of Mineral Resources.

The main task of the Council is to advise the Minister

of Mineral Resources on occupational health and

safety legislation and research outcomes that aim to

improve and promote occupational health and safety

in South African mines. The Council also oversees the

activities of its committees; promotes a culture of

health and safety in the mining industry; arranges a

summit every two years to review the state of

occupational health and safety at mines; and liaises

with the Mining Qualifications Authority and any

other statutory bodies about mining health and

safety.

The Committees of the Council, namely the Safety in

Mines Research Advisory Committee (SIMRAC),

Mining Regulation Advisory Committee (MRAC),

Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee 

(MOHAC) and the Audit and Risk Committee are
established with the following functions:  

MRAC advises the Council on proposed regulatory

changes, guidelines for codes of practice, and on

national standards to be approved by the South

African Bureau of Standards. 

MOHAC is tasked with advising the Council on

health policies, standards, systems and procedures

related to occupational health risks, health

regulations, health research and health data. 

SIMRAC reviews OHS risks and establishes the need

for OHS research projects, establishes criteria for

determining the funding of health and safety re-

search, evaluates research proposals, and oversees

the research programme and the technology transfer

of research outcomes.  

The Audit committee is established in terms of

Treasury Regulation 27.1.1 to assist the Council in

discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of

assets, the operation of adequate systems, control

processes and the preparation of accurate finan-

cial reports and statements in compliance with 

all applicable legal requirements and accounting

standards.



MHSC Annual Report  l  2010/2011 12

ofile
44.2 Structure 

The MHSC functions according to the following organisational structure: 

Legislation
Regulations
Guidelines
Standards

Health Policy
Health Information
Health Regulations

Research Input

Research Needs
Research Programmes
Technology Transfer

Operational Execution and Implementation

State 
Labour
Employers

Audit Committee

Mine Health 
and Safety Council

Safety in Mines
Research Advisory

Committee (SIMRAC)

Mining
Occupational Health
Advisory Committee

(MOHAC)

Mining Regulations
Advisory Committee

(MRAC)

4.3 MHSC Office

The Office is responsible for executing the operational objectives of the MHSC, with the

functions structured as follows:

•  Office of the CEO: Strategy Execution

•  Office of CFO: Finance and Information Technology

•  Office of the CROO: Research and Committee Administration and Facilities Management.
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Dr. T. Balfour-Kaipa Mr. T. Dube Mr. P. Hlabizulu

Dr. L. La Grange Mr. M. Munroe Mr. S. van der Woude

Mr. D. Msiza
Acting Chairperson

Dr. D. Mokoboto Mr. T. Masondo Mr. M. Nhlapo Mr. H. RexMr. L. MacMaster 

Absent: Mr. S. Mkhonto and Mr. E. Gcilitshana

Members of the MHSC
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MHSC Staff

Mr. T. Gazi
Chief Executive Officer

Back row from left to right: Audrey Banyini-Mulaudzi: Belina Ngomano; Siboniso Mfeka; Tshino Mavhusha; Judy Matthews; 

Florence Cairncross; Joseph Lethebe; Paballo Relela; Thakane Noosi; Vhonani Tshifularo and Solomon Mthembu. 

Front row from left to right: Cheryl Jones; Faith Ntladi; Naomi Nkoana; Fhulufhuwani Makhado; Tino-Tenda Pupuma; Lerato Nyathi; 

Kgomotso Mokhene and Noeleen Woods.
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MHSC 
Performance Overview 
for 2010/2011

“Priorities for the 2010/11 financial year
were determined and approved by 
MHSC during its planning meeting held 
in July 2009. Since its inception, the 
MHSC has initiated a number of studies 
to support its evidence-based advice”
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5.1 Overview of Strategic Objectives

The Mine Health and Safety Council has revised its

strategic priorities for the period 2010 to 2013. The

three-year plan takes into account stakeholder needs

and requirements; mining industry opportunities and

challenges; and outcomes of industry initiatives and

plans in relation to health and safety.  

Priorities for the 2010/11 financial year were

determined and approved by the MHSC during its

planning meeting held in July 2009. Since its inception,

the MHSC has initiated a number of studies to

support its evidence-based advice. The main thrust

of the Council’s strategy is to effectively influence the

culture of health and safety in the mining industry

with the ultimate goal of creating a healthy, safe and

productive mining environment. 

The Council strives to deliver on the needs of the

South African mining industry as per its mandate. As

such it was imperative for the MHSC to ensure that

the advice it offers to the Minister of Mineral

Resources enhances the South African policy

directives for the mining sector. Advice therefore has

to be appropriate, relevant and proactive. 

The planning process for the new initiatives for

2010/11 took into account the current work in

progress (summit action plan and presidential audit

outcomes), the needs of the Minister as articulated in

the budget vote, as well as the outcome of the

research needs analysis. 

The Balanced Scorecard (BSC) has been adopted as

the best way to report the organisational

performance, with the approach divided into four

segments that provide the reader with an integrated

view of the MHSC performance. 

5.2  Description of each of the
Balanced Scorecard Perspectives

Customer: Recent management philosophy has

shown an increasing realisation of the importance of

customer focus and customer satisfaction in any

business. These are leading indicators: if customers

are not satisfied, they will eventually find other

suppliers that will meet their needs. Poor perfor-

mance from this perspective is thus a leading

indicator of future decline, even though the current

financial picture may look good. In developing metrics

for satisfaction, customers should be analysed in

terms of kinds of customers and the kinds of

processes for which we are providing a product or

service to those customer groups.

Internal Business Processes:  The MHSC

framework for internal business processes identified

three ‘clusters’ of processes: Efficient business

processes: This relates to the basic, day-to-day

routine activities necessary to first produce and

ultimately deliver a service to the customer;

Knowledge Leadership: This cluster focuses on the

development of new products and services designed

to meet the emerging needs of our customer 

base and stakeholders; and Customer Relations

Management: This cluster focuses on processes

relating to the management of the MHSC’s

stakeholders and customers, and includes proactively

communicating the organisational offering, and

carefully determining user needs and targeting

solutions accordingly.

Learning and Growth:  There are three key

areas of focus when developing objectives and

measures for the Learning and Growth perspective,

which are: human capital, information capital and

organisational capital.  

This component should ensure that employees

possess skills that match the organisational strategy,
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the ability to provide tools that the MHSC needs to execute the strategy and the ability to grow and learn for

sustained results.

Financial:  This perspective will address revenue growth. In the case of the MHSC, the focus is on collecting

all revenue, lowering operational costs, maximising the use of assets and managing financial risks. 

To assist in understanding the BSC and the reporting against performance, the graphical representation of the

performance against the planned initiatives are tracked on a quarterly basis. Progress is reported to the MHSC

members and to the Department of Mineral Resources quarterly.

The strategic map indicating the objectives as per the perspectives is outlined in 

Figure 11 below.

mance

Promote Health and Safety
Culture in the Mining Industry

Improve Efficiency
Adopt & Share Best

Practice
Build/Leverage Networks

Embed Process
Engage in Purposeful

Research
Educate & Empower our

Stakeholders

Automate Processes
Benchmark against best

practice
Understand Stakeholder

Needs & Expectations

Review Business Processes
& Procedures

Understand Current &
Future OHS Needs

Efficient Business Processes Knowledge Leadership Stakeholder and Customer Relationship Management

StrengthenTrip-
artite Partnership

Influence
Legislation

Provide Advice &
reliable information

on OHS

Regular &
Timeous Feedback

Build
Accountability

Build
Technological

Capability

Embed Core
Values

Attract, Develop &
Retain Appropriate

Staff

Improve Cost
Structure

Leverage Assets
Optimally

Align Budget with
Strategy

Improve Revenue
Collection

Manage Risk
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5.3  Detailed performance against
strategic objectives

5.3.1 Customer Perspective

5.3.1.1 Performance areas

 The perspective seeks to address the

following key questions: “Who are our

customers?” “What do those customers

expect or demand from us?” “What is our

value proposition in serving our customers?” 

 One of the complexities of an entity

operating within a tripartite governance

structure is that the stakeholders and

customers tend to be the same. In a

conventional sense, a customer is a recipient

of the products and services and the

stakeholder is the interested and affected

party who is interested in the well-being of

the organisation. As an example, the MHSC’s

customers are the Minister of Mineral

Resources, mine employers and employees;

yet these are also stakeholders.

 

For the 2010/2011 year, the MHSC undertook to

achieve the following key measures, targets and

initiatives aligned to the MHSC’s mandate of advising

the Minister, promoting a health and safety culture

and fulfilling compliance obligations:

•   Promoting OHS culture in the sector by

developing the Culture Transformation   

•   Compliance to the reporting framework for

National Treasury and other regulatory

requirements

•   Advising the Minister of Mineral Resources on

topical, related OHS issues

•   Improving legislative aspects pertaining to OHS

•   Enhancing the spirit of tripartism on which the

MHSC is based.

19
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The customer perspective with the summarised performance is shown in Table 2. 

5.3.1.2  Commentary on Performance 

  The Culture Transformation Framework was developed towards the end of 2009, but the finalisation

of the framework was not completed during the period under review. The lack of final approval by the

tripartite structures of the MHSC impacted negatively on the implementation of the framework across

the South African mining sector.

 The MHSC complied with all the required timeframes for submission of the quarterly MHSC

management report, business plan and budgetary information that was required as per the departmental

and treasury processes. 

CUSTOMER AND STAKEHOLDER PERSPECTIVE

OBJECTIVE MEASURE TARGET ACTUAL REASONS FOR DEVIATION

Promote 
Health 
and Safety
Culture in
Mining 
Industry

OHS Culture
framework
developed

Y Y Approval of the Cultural Transformation framework obtained at
the Council meeting in April 2011. Stakeholders still want to
discuss the framework report

% implementation
of OHS culture
framework plan

90% 0% The Culture Transformation Framework was approved April 2011
due to the dependency on the approval, the implementation plan
was not developed

Regular &
Timeous
Feedback

% compliance
with policy
requirements

100% 100% Compliance with required timeframes for submission of plans and
reports is high. The MHSC management quarterly report, business
plan and budget was submitted timeously

Provide 
Advice &
Reliable
Information 
on OHS

No of OHS advice
reports submitted
to Minister

4 4 A number of topical issues (e.g Chilean Mine Disaster and Acid
Mine Drainage) were addressed

Stakeholder
Satisfaction 
Survey (Impact
Assessment)

75% - The survey tool was approved but the survey was not undertaken
due to the dependency on the website to disseminate the survey

Influence
Legislation 

No of
recommendations
(legislative)
submitted

6 0 Inputs to the Enforcement guidelines were made. Workshop held
on the proposed amendments to the MHSA

Strengthen
Tripartite
Partnerships

No of high-level
stakeholder
engagements to
discuss issues

2 1 The Deputy Minister visited the MHSV Offices in February 2011
(due to the late notification not all stakeholders were able to
attend) 

Representation 
of stakeholders
scheduled 
meeting

40% 75% The MHSC and its sub-committees met regularly for the period
under review with attendance being generally good

% tripartite
initiatives
implemented
(summit action
plan)

80% 70% Most of the projects on the action plan are being developed
through the Culture Transformation Framework and as such have
been delayed
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 The MHSC successfully provided advice to

the Minister of Mineral Resources during

the 2010/2011 financial year. The topics

submitted were:

 •          TB and HIV/AIDS in the South African

mining industry 

•  Chilean Mine disaster 

•  Acid Mine Drainage

•   The programme of mine Occupational

and Safety research work.

 Although the MHSC did not achieve the
target of developing six legislative topics,
two legislative topics were considered
during the period under review. MHSC
provided inputs on the Enforcement
Guideline and the review of the Mine
Health and Safety Act to the Department
of Mineral Resources.

 In terms of strengthening the spirit of
tripartism, the MHSC partially met the
targets set for the period under review. The
challenge linked to achieving this target was
impacted on by the inability to find
common ground on the Cultural
Transformation Framework, which has
many linkages to the projects in the
Summit Action Plan. 

5.3.2 Internal Business Process 

5.3.2.1 Performance Areas  

 The objectives of the Internal Business

Processes are to focus on strategic

priorities for various business processes

that create customer and stakeholder

satisfaction. The key measures, targets and

initiatives that  have been developed under

this strategic objective were primarily to

improve the efficacy of the MHSC so as to

have a positive impact on OHS in the sector.

The key outputs were to:

•   Increase operational efficiency of the

MHSC office by focussing on embedding

and automating core business process;

•     Undertake and manage focussed re-

search in OHS, including the industry

milestones of: 

o  Zero rate of fatalities and injuries

o  Elimination of Noise Induced

Hearing Loss

o  Elimination of silicosis

•   Educate and Empower Stakeholders to

improve corporate governance and

consultative processes for timeous

decision making.

21
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Table 2 Learning and growth objectives, targets and performance

INTERNAL PERSPECTIVE - EFFICIENT BUSINESS PROCESSES

OBJECTIVE MEASURE TARGET ACTUAL REASONS FOR DEVIATION

Improve
Efficiency

% adherence to
prescribed
timeframes

90% 90% The target was met however a few challenges were still
experienced in the submission of the document packs.

Embed
Processes

% adherence to
processes

100% 77% Changes to research management were implemented during the
year. Business processes for all units were reviewed.

Automate
Processes

% of processes
automated

90% 40% Challenges in IT resourcing and staffing.
Problems with website.

Review Business
Processes &
Procedures

% of business
processes
reviewed

100% 100% All processes for MHSC activities were updated

INTERNAL PERSPECTIVE - KNOWLEDGE LEADERSHIP

Adopt & Share
Best Practice

Number of best
practices
identified, adopted
and shared

1 0 Specific programmes identified were effective methods of
transferring research outcomes to target audiences. The
programmes were identified but not rolled out to members nor
the sector.

Engage in
Purposeful
Research

Champion mine
project
perception and
rating

75% 0 Survey to be developed in 2nd half of the 2010/2011 year. This was
not achieved due to the capacity constraints not only in the
Research Department but also within MHSC Offices.

% age of Projects
on brief, on
budget, on time

70% 40% Delays experienced due to late approval compounded by lack of
submissions of pre-proposition research questions. All new
projects started but are late.

Benchmark
Against Best
Practice

Completed Best
Practice Survey

Y Y SA practices identified as leading in most areas of OHS and as a
result the focus has been on utilising the services within the
country and continuing with the internal research processes.

Understand
Current &
Future OHS
Needs

Annual OHS
needs analysis
report approved

Y Y Needs analysis for 2011/2012 completed and approved by MHSC.

INTERNAL PERSPECTIVE - STAKEHOLDER AND CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT

Educate &
Empower our
Stakeholders

% age
implementation 
of communication
plan

3 0 MHSC communication strategy approved.
The appointment of the MHSC Communications Manager will
ensure that this gets implemented.

Educate &
Empower our
Stakeholders

Number of
stakeholder
interactions

3 2 In February 2011 the MHSC conducted an induction programme
for all the stakeholders.
Presentations were given to stakeholders on the research
processes as well as the research programmes and projects.

Understand
Stakeholder
Needs &
Expectations

Implement
Assessment
Survey

Y N Survey tool not rolled out.
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5.3.2.2 Commentary on Performance

 Of the four objectives linked to Efficient Business Processes, the MHSC partially met the targets set for

the year. The area that negatively impacted on this sub-section was the automation of the processes

within the MHSC, although the processes were reviewed and enhanced.

 The research programme for 2010/2011 was significantly hampered by the late start of projects. The

problems experienced related to late approval of the programme, as well as an inability to secure

adequate proposals to answer the identified areas of research.

 The implementation of a new research process in 2009/2010 resulted in the timely approval of the

2011/2012 research needs by the end of the third quarter of the 2010/2011 financial year.

 Performance against Customer and Stakeholder Relationship Management was also partially achieved.

5.3.3 Learning and Growth

5.3.3.1 Performance Areas

 The MHSC has evolved slowly into its current form, requiring innovative ways to create a performing

organisation. Issues addressed included employee training and corporate cultural attitudes related to

both individual and corporate self-improvement. 

 In the current climate of rapid technological change, it is becoming necessary for employees to be in a

continuous learning mode. Metrics were put in place to focus funding for appropriate training. Learning

and growth constitute the essential foundation for success of any organisation.

23

MHSC officials chatting to guests at the 2011 Mining Indaba.
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LEARNING & GROWTH

OBJECTIVE MEASURE TARGET ACTUAL REASONS FOR DEVIATION

Attract,
Develop &
Retain
Appropriate
Staff

No of vacancies 2 3 • The following vacancies were not filled
1. Safety Research Programme Manager
2. IT Specialist
3. Receptionist

•  Recruitment progress for all vacant positions. Interviews and
appointments to be finalised in April 2011

% of payroll spend
on training and
development

1% 2.2% The following training took place in the period under review:
1. Balanced Scoreboard training
2. Emergency Training
3. SAMSHA Training
4. Emergency Training;
5. Tax workshop (6) PHD registration

Embed Core
Values

Employee opinion
survey ratings

3/4 N/A The employees survey process was not completed by the end of the
fourth quarter under review. This will be prioritised for the first quarter
of 2011/2012

Build
Technological
Capability

% implementation
of integrated IT &
knowledge
management
infrastructure

90% 95% HR processes and policies have been updated, loaded SAMSHA on
system - effective use of SAMSHA

Build
Accountability

% employees with
performance
agreements for
2010/11

100% 96% Not all the staff (1) had their assessments signed by the end of the year

5.3.3.2 Commentary on Performance

 At the end of the year under review, three vacancies existed within the MHSC. The position that has

proved difficult to fill is that of the Safety Programme Manager, which has been unfilled for 12 months.

MHSC office staff with the Deputy Minister of Mineral Resources during his visit to the office.
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The following training took place during the period under review:

•  Balanced Scorecard training

•  Emergency training

•  SAMSHA training 

•  Taxation workshop

•   PhD study on ‘The utilisation of autopsy services for posthumous compensation of occupational lung

diseases among black workers and their families in South Africa’.  

5.3.4 Financial Perspective

5.3.4.1 Performance Areas

 For the MHSC, this perspective focused on efficient revenue collection, improving cost structures and

managing organisational risk. Timely and accurate funding data is critical to ensure that the outputs are

properly managed. 

Key outputs for the year were:

•  Annual budget by August 2010

•  Annual risk register by December 2010

•  Monthly expenditure report

•  Quarterly management accounts

25

FINANCIAL PERSPECTIVE

OBJECTIVE MEASURE TARGET ACTUAL REASONS FOR DEVIATION

Improve
Revenue
Collection

% improvement on
Debtors ageing

30% 35% Though there is improvement on collections, the challenge
remains with the accuracy of the billing data supplied by DMR

Align Budget
with Strategy

% total budget
allocated to strategy

80% 79% Expenditure is in line with approved Business Plan

Improve Cost
Structures

Opex Ratio 0.2 0.21 Savings as a result of vacancies and reduced staff costs 

Manage Risks % reduction in
substantial findings

50% 64% • Exceeded target set 
• External audit complete
• Unqualified audit report was obtained from 2009/2010
• Number of findings 
• Reduced compared to 2008/9 report
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5.3.4.2 Commentary on Performance

 There has been improvement in revenue collection, but the challenge remains the accuracy of the billing

data supplied by the Department of Mineral Resources. Expenditure is in line with the approved Business

Plan and savings were due to vacancies and reduced staff costs. The External Audit for 2009/2010 was

completed, resulting in an unqualified audit report, however, more significantly has been the reduction

in the number of significant findings compared to previous years.

mance
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MHSC
Annual Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2011

“The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with Statements of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice and Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (GAAP). These Annual Financial Statements are
based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates”
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6 Statement of Responsibility

The Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of

1999) (PFMA), as amended, requires the Council

members to ensure that the Mine Health and Safety

Council maintains a full and proper record of its

financial affairs. The Annual Financial Statements

should fairly present the state of affairs of the Mine

Health and Safety Council (MHSC), its financial

results, its performance against predetermined

objectives and its financial position at the end of the

year in terms of the Generally Recognised

Accounting Practice (GRAP) and Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice (GAAP).

The Annual Financial Statements are the

responsibility of the Council members, while the

external auditors are responsible for independently

auditing and reporting on the financial statements.

The Auditor-General of South Africa has audited the

MHSC’s financial statements (the Auditor-General’s

report appears on Page 31). 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared

in accordance with Statements of GRAP and GAAP,

and  are based on appropriate accounting policies,

supported by reasonable and prudent judgements

and estimates.

The Council members have reviewed the MHSC’s

budget and cash flow forecasts for the year ended

31 March 2011. On the basis of this review, and in

view of the current financial position, the members,

with the concurrence of the auditors, have every

reason to believe that the MHSC will be a going

concern in the year ahead. The Annual Financial

Statements have been prepared on this basis.

To enable the Council members to meet the above

responsibilities, the MHSC sets standards and

implements systems of internal control and risk

management that are designed to provide

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against

material misstatements and losses. The entity

maintains internal financial controls to provide

assurance regarding the safeguarding of assets against

unauthorised use or disposition, and the

maintenance of proper accounting records and the

reliability of financial information used within the

business or for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms,

and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they

are identified. A system of internal control, however,

no matter how well designed, has inherent

limitations, including the possibility of circumvention

or the overriding of controls. An effective system of

internal control, therefore, aims to provide

reasonable assurance with respect to the reliability of

financial information and, in particular, the
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presentation of financial statements. Furthermore,

because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of

internal financial controls may vary over time. 

The Council members have reviewed the entity’s

systems of internal control and risk management for

the period 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011. The Council

members are of the opinion that the entity’s systems

of internal control and risk management were effective

for the period under review, other than for the issues

highlighted in the Council report under control

systems and record keeping and non-compliance to

the PFMA.

In the opinion of the members of Council, based on

the information available to date, the Annual Financial

Statements fairly present the financial position of the

MHSC as at 31 March 2011 and the results of its

operations and cash flow information for the year. It is

the opinion of the members of Council that acceptable

Codes of Business Conduct have been adhered to.

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended

31 March 2011, as set out on Pages 43 to 80, were

approved by the Council in terms of section 51(1)(f)

of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of

1999), as amended,  and are signed on its behalf by:

T Gazi

Chief Executive Officer

Date 31 May 2011

D Msiza

Acting Chairperson

Date 31 May 2011
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7  REPORT BY THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON
THE MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction 
1.  I have audited the accompanying financial statements

of the Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC)
which comprise the statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2011 and the statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets and
cash flow statement for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information,  as set out on pages 
43 to 80.

Accounting authority’s responsibility for
the financial statements
2.  The accounting authority is responsible for the

preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the South African
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the
requirements of the Public Finance Management  Act
of South Africa (Act No.1 of 1999) (PFMA) and for
such internal control as management determines
necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility
3.  As required by section 188 of the Constitution of

the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of
1996) and section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South
Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my
responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on my audit.

4.  I conducted my audit in accordance with Inter-
national Standards on Auditing and General Notice
1111 of 2010 issued in Government Gazette 33872 of
15 December 2010. Those standards require that I
comply with ethical requirements and plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

5.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.  The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error.  In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-
ness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. 

6.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Opinion
7.  In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly,

in all material respects, the financial position of the
Mine Health Safety Council as at 31 March 2011, and
its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the SA Standards of
GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Emphasis of matters
8.  I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is

not modified in respect of this matter:
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Restatement of corresponding figures 
9.  As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements,

the corresponding figures for 31 March 2010 have
been restated as a result of an error discovered by
management during the current financial reporting
period in the financial statements of MHSC as at, and
for the year ended, 31 March 2010.

Report on Other Legal And Regulatory
Requirements 
10.  In accordance with the PAA and in terms of

General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government

Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I include
below my findings on material non-compliance with
laws and regulations applicable to the public entity.

Predetermined objectives
11.  There were no material findings on the annual

performance report concerning the presentation,
usefulness and reliability of the information.

Compliance with laws and regulations 
Annual financial statements
12.  The accounting authority submitted financial

statements for auditing that were not prepared in
certain material aspects in accordance with the SA
Standards of GRAP as required by section 55 (1)
(b) of the PFMA. The material misstatements
identified during the audit with regards to accruals
and commitments relating to research were
subsequently corrected.

Expenditure Management 
13.  The accounting authority did not take effective and

appropriate steps to prevent irregular expenditure
as per the requirements of section 51 (1) (b) of the
PFMA as disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Internal Control 
14.  In accordance with the PAA and in terms of

General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government

Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I considered
internal control relevant to my audit, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control. The matters
reported below are limited to the significant
deficiencies that resulted in the findings on
compliance with laws and regulations included in
this report.

Financial and Performance Management
15.  The material audit adjustments to the financial

statements could have been prevented had the list
of commitments  and accruals been properly
prepared and reviewed

16.  The irregular expenditure could have been
prevented had compliance been properly reviewed
and monitored by management.

Other Reports 
Investigations
17.  The accounting authority instigated an investigation

on the former Chief Executive Officer of the entity
on allegations of fraud on supply chain management
and financial misconduct. The investigation was
concluded before the end of the reporting period
and the results did not indicate the aforementioned
allegations. 

Pretoria

30 July 2011

Auditing to build public confidence

S O U T H  A F R I C A
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8 Audit Committee Report

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
REPORT OF THE MHSC AUDIT COMMITTEE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance: 

The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a written charter approved by the Council, and provides

assistance to the Council with regards to compliance to all the necessary and appropriate regulatory frameworks.

The Audit Committee adequately addressed its responsibilities in terms of the charter during the period under

review. The Audit Committee met seven (7) times during the period under review. The committee comprises of

a member nominated by Council stakeholders and independent members. It is chaired by an independent

chairperson.

Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a) of the

Public Finance Management Act, as amended (PFMA) and Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 21.1.10(b) and (c). 

MEMBER NAME PER
STAKEHOLDER
GROUPING

TOTAL
NUMBER OF
MEETINGS

TOTAL MEETINGS
ATTENDED

COMMENTS ON MEMBERSHIP AND
ATTENDANCE

State

Mr K Gaonnwe 6 2 Member until 31 October 2010

Employees

Mr J Hugo 8 4

Employers

Mr C. Rivett-Carnac 7 6 Member until 31 October 2010 

Mr H. Groenewald 2 0 Member from 1 November 2010 

Independent

Ms L Fosu 13 13 7 Audit Committee meetings and 6 other 
MHSC requested meetings

Ms T Sihlaba 7 7

Mr Z Fihlani 7 5
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s51(1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA states the fol-

lowing:

(a) The accounting authority must ensure that the public

entity has and maintains – 

(i) effective, efficient and transparent systems of

financial and risk management and internal control;

(ii)  a system of internal audit under the control and

direction of an Audit Committee complying with

and operating in accordance with regulations and

instructions prescribed in terms of sections 76 and

77, and

(iii)  an appropriate procurement and provisioning

system which is fair, equitable, transparent,

competitive and cost effective.

The Audit Committee also reports that it has

adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its

Audit Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in

compliance with this Charter and has discharged all

its responsibilities as contained therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

The Audit Committee is of the opinion, based on the

information and explanations given by management

and the internal auditors on the results of their

audits and the status in addressing the matters raised,

that the internal accounting controls are operating

satisfactorily, to ensure that the financial records may

be relied upon for preparing the annual financial

statements, and accountability for assets and

liabilities is maintained.

Nothing significant has come to the attention of the

Audit Committee to indicate that any material

breakdown in the functioning of these controls,

procedures and systems has occurred during the

year under review.

The Quality of In-Year management,
Monthly and Quarterly Reports Submitted
in Terms of the PFMA

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content
and quality of monthly and quarterly reports
prepared and issued by the Council during the year
under review. However the Audit committee has
noted challenges regarding delays in implementing
research projects. The Audit Committee is satisfied
with the plan to be implemented by management in
addressing these challenges and the impact will be
monitored continuously in the new financial year.

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee has evaluated the Annual
Financial Statements of the Mine Health and Safety
Council for the year ended 31 March 2011 and based
on the information provided to us, concurs and
accepts the Auditor General’s conclusions on these
financial statements. The committee is of the opinion
that the audited Annual Financial Statements should
be accepted and read together with the report of
the Auditor-General. 

Internal Audit 

The Committee is satisfied that the internal audit
function is operating effectively and that it continues
to provide assurance in relation to the risks
pertinent to the MHSC in its audit. 

MS LJ FOSU

Chairperson of the Audit Committee 
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9  Corporate Governance Statement for the Year ended 
31 March 2011

Finan

9.1 Introduction

Corporate governance is concerned with the

organisational arrangements that have been put in

place to provide an appropriate set of checks and

balances within which the Council members operate.

The objective is to ensure that those to whom 

the stakeholders entrust the direction and success

of the Council, act in the best interests of these

stakeholders.

The members of Council are committed to the

principles of openness, integrity and accountability as

advocated by the King Report on Corporate

Governance for South Africa 2002 (King II report), as

well as the Protocol on Corporate Governance in

the Public Sector 2003. Through this process, the

stakeholders may derive assurance that the entity is

being ethically managed according to prudently

determined risk parameters in compliance with

generally accepted corporate practices.

9.2 Stakeholders

The Mine Health and Safety Council is represented by

an equal number of members from State, Employees

(organised labour) and Employers. In addition to the

interests of these stakeholders, the Council

acknowledges the interests of other stakeholders,

including employees in the Council office, creditors,

customers, suppliers and service providers.

The entity promptly and openly communicates with all

stakeholders on material matters of significant interest

and concern to stakeholders with emphasis on

substance, relevance, clarity, effectiveness, transparency

and objectivity. The Council places great emphasis on

reporting both financial and performance matters.

9.3 Governing Bodies

The Council is a statutory entity established and

governed in terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act

(MHSA),  Act No. 29 of 1996 as amended in 2008,

and is listed as a schedule 3 public entity in terms of

the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) (Act No.

1 of 1999). It reports to the Minister of Mineral

Resources and the Minister appoints members of

Council. In terms of the MHSA, five members

represent departments of State, five represent

employees of mines and five represent mine

employers. The Chairperson of the Council is the

Chief Inspector of Mines.

The Council provides quarterly and annual reports

on its performance to the executive authority as

prescribed in the PFMA. Such reports are submitted

within the stipulated timeframes.

The Council adheres to the requirements of the

PFMA, and applies the South African Statements of

Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP)

and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP)

in presenting its Annual Financial Statements.

In terms of Section 43 of the MHSA, the

Council must:

•   Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines,

including but not limited to, any regulations on

mine rehabilitation in so far as they concern health

and safety

•   Coordinate the activities of its committees, receive

reports from the committees and liaise with the

Mining Qualifications Authority (MQA) on matters

relating to health and safety

•   Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned

with matters relating to health and safety
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•   Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry

•    Arrange and co-ordinate a tripartite summit to review the state of health and safety at mines at least once

every two years

•   Perform every duty imposed upon the Council in terms of the MHSA.

During the period under review the council convened five meetings; the Council members and their participation

are indicated in the table below.

9.3.1 Mine Health and Safety Council

MEMBER NAME PER
STAKEHOLDER
GROUPING

TOTAL
NUMBER OF
MEETINGS

TOTAL
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

COMMENTS ON
MEMBERSHIP AND
ATTENDANCE

State

Mr T. Gazi (Chairperson) 5 2 Chairperson until 31 September 2010

Mr D. Msiza (Acting Chairperson) 7 7 Acting Chairperson from 
1 October 2010

Mr M. Zondi (Acting Chairperson) 2 2 Acting Chairperson from April 
to June 2010

Dr D. Mokoboto 3 3 Member from 1 November 2010

Mr T. Dube 7 5

Mr S. Mkhonto 3 0 Member from 1 November 2010 
(Dr L. Lekalakala attended on his 
behalf for all 3 meetings)

Employees

Mr M. Nhlapo 7 5

Mr E. Gcilitshana 7 7

Mr P. Hlabizulu 7 4

Mr F. Stehring 7 4 (Mr F. van Straten attended on his behalf
for 3 meetings)

Mr L. McMaster 3 1 Member from 1 November 2010

Employers

Dr T. Balfour-Kaipa 3 3 Member from 1 November 2010

Mr I. Mofokeng 3 0 Member from 1 November 2010

Mr T. Masondo 7 2 Member from 1 November 2010

Mr H. van der Merwe 3 2 Member from 1 November 2010

Mr B. Nyirenda 4 1 Member from 31 October 2010

Mr S. van der Woude 4 4 Member from 31 October 2010

Dr L. la Grange 4 3 Member from 31 October 2010

Mr M. Munroe 3 3 Member from 1 November 2010
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The Council has the following permanent committees assisting with the performance of

its duties:

9.3.2 Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee (SIMRAC)

SIMRAC advises the Council on research to improve OHS in the mining sector by reviewing OHS risks based

on the statistics of the previous year. The committee further reviews the funding for OHS research by monitoring

research proposals, overseeing research progress and assisting in the technology transfer of research outcomes.

For the period under review, SIMRAC met on seven (7) occasions towards fulfilling its mandated role.  Attendance

per member is tabulated below. 

MEMBER NAME PER
STAKEHOLDER
GROUPING

TOTAL
NUMBER OF
MEETINGS

TOTAL
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

COMMENTS ON
MEMBERSHIP AND
ATTENDANCE

Employers

Mr I. Ally 6 6 Member from 31 October 2010

Mr A. Brown 8 0 Member from 31 October 2010

Dr B. Chicksen 8 2

Dr B. Madolo 8 2

Dr B. Belle 6 1 Member from 31 October 2010

Mr D. Labuschagne 1 1 Member from 1 November 2010

Dr B. Madolo 1 0

Mr I. Goolam 1 1 Member from 1 November 2010

State

Mr T. Dube 8 7

Mr T. Motitimi 8 8

Mr A. Coutinho 6 5 Member from 31 October 2010

Ms P. Mnisi 8 4

Mrs O. Masekoa 8 6

Employees

Mr E. Gcilitshana 8 2

Mr A. Rikhotso 8 7

Mr M. Nhlapo 8 5

Mr I. Sakala 8 7

Mr J. Jooste 8 0

Mr L. McMaster 1 1 Member from 1 November 2010

Dr W. Rymon-Lipinski 1 1 Member from 1 November 2010
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9.3.3 Mining Regulation Advisory Committee (MRAC)

The role of this committee is to provide advice to the MHSC by reviewing, developing or amending legislation

that impacts on OHS within the South African mining industry. Further to this, MRAC also considers and develops

guidelines for Codes of Practice. Attendance by members for the 2010/2011 year is listed below. 

9.3.4 Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee (MOHAC)

MOHAC is specifically mandated to provide advice to the Council on all matters pertaining to health issues that

impact on mineworkers. The committee focuses its attention on policies and regulatory mechanisms relating to

health risks. Furthermore, standard systems and procedures for assessing, avoiding, controlling and minimising

such health risks are reviewed by this committee. Attendance by members is reported below.

MEMBER NAME PER 
STAKEHOLDER
GROUPING

TOTAL
NUMBER OF 
MEETINGS

TOTAL
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

COMMENTS ON
MEMBERSHIP AND
ATTENDANCE

State

Mr D. Msiza 3 3 Chairperson and Group Convenor

Mr A. Coutinho 7 6

Ms B. Senabe 7 7 Acting Chairperson from 
6 November 2010

Mr G. Ndamse 7 2

Mr F. Nkuna 5 5

Mr N. Mokhonoana 4 4 Member until 6 November 2010

Mr S. Ramabulana 2 1 Member until 9 June 2010

Employees

Mr L. Mekuto 7 6 Group Convenor

Mr A. van Heerden 7 4

Mr H. Griezel 2 1 Member until 9 June 2010

Mr P. Mardon 4 0

Employers

Mr A. van Achterbergh 7 5 Group Convenor

Ms C. Dixon 7 3

Mr G. Coetzee 3 3 Member until 6 October 2010

Mr J. Britz 1 1 Member until 16 April 2010

Mr A. Palane 5 1

Mr M. Veti 5 3
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Internal Control

The MHSC has ultimate responsibility for the system of internal controls. To this end, the Council ensures that

the system of internal control, which is embedded in all key operations, provides reasonable assurance that the

Council’s business objectives will be achieved within its self-defined risk tolerance levels. 

The Council also receives assurance from the MHSC Audit Committee, which partly derives its information

from regular internal and external audit reports on risk and internal control matters.

MEMBER NAME PER
STAKEHOLDER
GROUPING

TOTAL
NUMBER OF
MEETINGS

TOTAL
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

COMMENTS ON 
MEMBERSHIP AND
ATTENDANCE

Employers

Dr R. Hansia 2 1 Member until 31 October 2010

Dr C. Mbekeni 1 1

Dr C. Badenhorst 3 3

Mr M. Beukes 2 2

Dr T. Balfour-Kaipa 1 1 Member until 31 October 2010

Dr K. Baloyi 1 1 Member from 1 November 2010

Dr D. De Villiers 1 1 Member from 1 November 2010

State

Ms N. Masekoa 2 2 Member from 31 October 2010

Ms B. Senabe 1 1 Member from 31 October 2010

Mr J. Legadima 2 2

Dr D.  Mokoboto 3 2

Mr N. Mokhonoana 1 1 Member until 31 October 2010

Ms A. van der Merwe 1 1 Member from 1 November 2010

Dr L. Ndelu  (DOH) 3 0

Employees

Mr A. Letshele 3 3

Mr M. Mira 3 3

Mr D. Selebogo 3 3 Member until 31 October 2010

Mr A. de Leeuw 2 0

Mr N. Naude 3 0

Mr H. van Vuuren 2 1
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9.4 Risk Management

Risk is defined as an event that may have an impact

on the ability of the MHSC to achieve its business

objectives. The MHSC’s risk management process has

four broad steps:

•  Risk identification

•  Risk assessment and treatment

•  Monitoring and reporting

•  Auditing.

The Council is accountable for the risk management

process, and retains control through the final review

of key risk matters affecting the organisation. The

Council is satisfied that there is an ongoing process

for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant

risks faced by the Council. A risk management

framework and register are in place, and are

reviewed for effectiveness and relevance.

9.4.1 Internal Audit

The internal audit function established in terms of
S51(1)(ii) of the PFMA has been outsourced. An
internal audit charter was in place as stipulated by
TR 27.2.5, setting out its purpose, authority and
responsibilities. The internal audit function reports
to the Audit Committee and attends all Audit
Committee meetings. The internal audit function
provides an independent, objective appraisal and
evaluation of the risk management processes,
internal controls and governance processes, and
identifies corrective actions and suggests enhance-
ments to the controls and processes.

A risk-based audit plan was implemented for the

period under review. The internal audit function

coordinates with external auditors to ensure

adequate coverage and to minimise duplication of

effort.
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10 Council Report Including Annual Financial Statements

Introduction

The members of MHSC hereby present its audited

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 

31 March 2011. The Mine Health and Safety Council

was established in terms of the Mine Health and

Safety Act (MHSA) (Act No. 29 of 1996), as amended,

and is listed as a national public entity under schedule

3A of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)

(Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended. The MHSC acts as

the Accounting Authority in terms of the PFMA.

MHSC Principal Activities

In terms of Section 43 of the MHSA the MHSC

should  advise the Minister on health and safety at

mines including, but not limited to, any regulations

on mine rehabilitation in so far as they concern

health and safety

•   Co-ordinate the activities of its committees,

receive reports from the committees and liaise

with the Mining Qualifications Authority on

matters relating to health and safety

•   Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned

with matters relating to health and safety

•   Promote a culture of health and safety in the

mining industry

•   Arrange and coordinate a tripartite summit to

review the state of health and safety at mines at

least once every two years

•   Perform every duty imposed upon the MHSC in

terms of the MHSA.

Operating Results

During the period under review the MHSC posted a

surplus of R13.298 million.

The world economy is still recovering from the credit

crunch, which affected the South African economy in

many ways, particularly in the number of mines that

closed down in the 2010/11 billing cycle.

Since the billing of 2010/11 related to mine incidents

that happened in the period July 2006 to June 2009, the

closed mines were no longer in existence and

therefore not in a position to pay the levies. These

challenges led to a provision for bad debts of 

R15 million.

The effect of the economic crunch in the 2010/11

invoicing was not material because the outstanding

balance of debtors in March 2011 includes March 2010

debtors balances of about R11 million. This means that

from the invoiced amount of R52 million, a total of R42

million of cash collected relates to 2010/11 financial

year and that the provision of R15 million is mainly

made up old debtors.

As reflected in note 20 to the financial statements,

there is an unfavourable variance of R12.364 million.

This is mainly due to committed, but undisbursed funds

(R31.520 million, in note 17) that will only be disbursed

as and when the projects reach their milestones. The

negative variance of R23.519 million against research

(note 20) represents committed, but undisbursed

funds. 

The Council is liquid and will be able to honour all its

liabilities as and when they fall due. The cash balance of

R116 million is meant for advancement of research and

promotion of health and safety in the mines to the

value of R96 million (note 17) and settlement of

creditors that are reflected in the statement of

financial position.
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The 2011/12 financial year is intended to be the year of

consolidation in which the challenges that existed

around the billing and collection of mine levies is

receiving close executive attention and the strategy in

relation to this was prepared and approved by the

Council. The prediction in a commodity boom driven

by resource-hungry Asian countries will help to

breathe life into the industry and will call for even

greater vigilance on research around health and 

safety issues. 

MMateriality and Significance Framework

A materiality and significance framework for reporting

losses due to criminal conduct and irregular, fruitless

and wasteful expenditure, as well as for approval of

significant transactions, as envisaged by section 

54(2) of the PFMA, has been developed and submitted

to the DMR.

Income and Receivables

The MHSC relies on the integrity of links between its

invoicing systems and the mining databases SAMRASS

and SAMINDEX to invoice levies. To ensure that

accurate data is used, the MHSC only uses data signed

off by the DMR.

Irregular Expenditure

Irregular expenditure incurred during the period under

review is disclosed under note 5.2 on Page 57.

Fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure

No fruitless and wasteful expenditure was incurred.

Non-compliance with S51 of the PFMA

The MHSC achieved significant compliance with the

PFMA for the period under review.

Events Subsequent to Financial 
Position Date

The members of the MHSC are not aware of any

matters or circumstances arising since the end of the

financial year, not otherwise dealt with in the Annual

Financial Statements, which significantly affect the

financial position of the MHSC or the results of its

operations.

Stakeholder Relations

The MHSC is a tripartite body comprising 15 members

representing the mining industry stakeholders; that is,

five members from the State, five members from the

Employers (the mines) and five members representing

Employees (labour unions in the mining industry). The

MHSC endeavours to maintain good stakeholder

relations and abides by the principles of tripartism. The

MHSC endeavours to achieve decision-making by

consensus and conforms to the decision-making

processes set out in its Constitution.

Addresses

The entity’s business, postal and registered addresses

are as follows:

Business address/domicile:

Building B7, Woodmead Business Park, 

145 Western Service Road, Woodmead, Johannesburg,

South Africa

Postal address:

Private Bag X63, Braamfontein, 2017, South Africa
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MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE PERIOD ENDED
31 March 2011

2011 2010

Note R'000 R'000

Income 63 883 59 916 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 2 57 020 52 093 

Revenue from exchange transactions

Finance income 3 6 500 7 235 

Other income 4 363 588 

Expenditure 50 586 45 004 

Research expenditure 5.4 21 459 18 462 

Administrative expenses 5.5 5 871 4 194 

Staff costs 5.6 9 055 9 937

Depreciation and amortisation 8 & 9 860 1 095 

Operating expenses 5.7 12 255 10 959 

Promotion of Health and Safety 5.8 130 9 

Finance costs 5.9 955 348 

Surplus for the year 5 13 298 14 912 
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MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 
31 March 2011

2011 2010 

Note R'000 R'000 

ASSETS 

Current assets 122 896 116 416 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 116 921 101 342 

Receivables (non-exchange) 7 4 837 13 225 

Other receivables (exchange) 7 1 138 1 849 

Non-current assets 4 136 2 265

Property, plant and equipment 8 3 905 2 134 

Intangible assets 9 231 131 

TOTAL ASSETS 127 032 118 681 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 5 648 9 515 

Trade and other payables (exchange) 10 3 184 6 954 

Unallocated deposits (non-exchange) 10 52 36 

Unutilised administrative fines (non-exchange) 11 1 590 1 670 

Provisions 12 763 760 

Finance lease current liability 14 59 95 

Non-current liabilities 1 065 1 935

Post-retirement medical aid 13 1 001 1 132 

Unallocated deposits (non-exchange) 10 - 709 

Finance lease non current liability 14 64 94 

NET ASSETS 120 319 107 231 

Accumulated Surplus 120 319 107 231 

TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 127 032 118 681 
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Note Accumulated 

surplus 

R'000 

Restated Balance at 31 March 2009 91 862 

Surplus as previously stated  at 31 March 2010 14 912 

Correction of error 15 457 

Restated balance at 31 March 2010 107 231 

Correction of error 15 -210 

Restated balance at 31 March 2010 107 021 

Surplus for the year 13 298 

Balance at 31 March 2011 120 319 

45

Finan

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 
31 March 2011
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MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 
31 March 2011

2011 2010

Note R'000 R'00

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash receipts from mines 51 614 54 875 

Cash receipts from other sources 6 674 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (46 180) (40 499)

Cash Generated from Operations 16 12 108 14 376 

Interest earned 6 388 7 235 

Net Cash Flows from Operating 18 496 21 611 
Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Additions to plant and equipment (2 852) (727)

Net Cash out Flows from Investing (2 852) (727)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Finance leases -65 -86 

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 15 644 20 884 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 101 342 80 544  

Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 6 116 921 101 342 

End of Year
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1. Accounting Policies

The annual financial statements incorporate the

principal accounting policies as set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the

accrual basis; assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses

have not been offset except where offsetting is

required by GRAP. The financial statements are in

accordance with the effective standards of GRAP,

including any interpretations, guidelines and

directives issued by the Accounting Standards

Board.

1.1.2  Specific information has been
presented separately on the
statement

a.  Receivables from non-exchange trans-

actions, including taxes and transfers

b.  Taxes and transfers payable

c.  Trade and other payables from non-

exchange transactions.

1.1.3 Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a

going concern basis.

1.2 Currency

All amounts have been presented in the South

African Rand (R) and amounts have been rounded to

the nearest thousand (‘000).

1.3 Comparative Figures

Prior year comparative information has been

presented in the current year’s financial statements.

Where necessary, figures included in the prior

period’s financial statements have been reclassified

to ensure that the format in which the information

is presented is consistent with the format of the

current year’s financial statements.

Material prior period errors are corrected through

the restatement of the comparative figures.

1.4 Taxation

The Council does not pay income tax, as it is

exempted in terms of section 10(1)(ca)(i) (aa) of the

Income Tax Act (Act No. 58 of 1962, as amended).

1.5  Related Parties and key
management transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has

the ability to control the other party or exercise

significant influence over the other party in making

financial and operating decisions or if the related

party entity and another entity are subject to

common control.

The Council operates in an economic environment

currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly

owned by the South African government.  As a result

of the constitutional independence of all three

spheres of government in South Africa, only parties

within the national sphere of government will be

considered to be related parties.

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 
31 March 2011
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Only those transactions that are not at arms length

or not in the ordinary course of business, are dis-

closed as related party transactions.

Key management is defined as individuals (including

their close family members) with the authority and

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the

activities of the entity. The Chief Executive Officer, the

Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Research and

Operations Officer are the only executive positions

regarded as being at key management level. Council

members are also regarded as key management.

Close family members of key management are

considered to be those family members who may be

expected to influence, or be influenced by key

management individuals or other parties related to 

the entity.

1.6 Post-Employment Benefit Plan 

The Council operates a defined benefit medical aid plan.

The defined benefit obligations in terms of the post-

retirement medical aid, the related current service cost,

and where applicable, the past service cost are

determined by using the projected unit credit method.

The valuation is based on an employer subsidy of 100%

of Liberty Life Medical Scheme membership costs in

retirement for members on the Liberty Life Provia

option. In case of death of principal member, his/her

spouse may continue membership, in which case the

subsidy will continue at 70% of the membership costs.

The employer subsidy increases on 1 January each year,

with the next increase due on 1 January 2012.  

The discount rate has been determined by reference

to market yields at the balance sheet date of South

African long-term bonds.

General increases to the employer’s medical aid

subsidy (‘subsidy inflation’) take into account the

estimated future changes in the cost of medical

services, resulting from both inflation and specific

changes in medical costs.

There are currently no assets specifically earmarked to

back the past service liability. The plan is thus not funded.

The accrued service liability (also referred to as the

present value of the obligation, or the past service

cost) is calculated as the present day value of the

employer’s subsidy to current in-service members,

which is deemed to have accrued at 31 March 2011.

(The subsidy is deemed to accrue with each

completed year of service from the date of

employment up to the retirement date.)

1.7 Significant Judgements 

In preparing the financial statements, management is

required to make judgements, estimates and

assumptions that affect the application of policies and

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and

expenses, and related disclosures. Historical

experience and various other factors believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances are used in

these instances. Actual results in the future could

differ from these estimates.  Significant judgement has

been exercised in determining the following:

Fair value estimation

The amortised cost (using the effective interest

method), less impairment provision of trade

receivables and payables are assumed to approximate

their fair values. The present value of future cash

flows (using the effective interest method), is

assumed to approximate the fair value of revenue

and purchase transactions.  
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Impairment testing

The entity makes judgement as to whether there is

observable data indicating a measurable decrease in

the estimated future cash flows from financial assets,

and in determining the recoverable amounts of cash-

generating units and individual assets. 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Residual values of items of property, plant and

equipment are zero because these assets are

donated at the end of their useful lives, at each

reporting period useful lives are assessed through

assessment of the physical condition and the planned

replacement period.  

Post-retirement benefit obligation

Certain assumptions are made in the annual actuarial

valuation.  

Provisions 

Provisions are based on estimates using the

information available to management at reporting

date. 

1.8 Revenue 

Exchange revenue is initially recognised at fair value

where it is probable that the future economic benefit

or service potential associated with the asset will

flow to the entity and the fair value of the asset can

be measured reliably. Where applicable, interest from

investments is recognised on a time proportion basis.

Non-exchange revenue is recognised when an inflow

from a non-exchange transaction is recognised as an

asset except to the extent that a liability is also

recognised in respect of the same inflow. 

Government grants are recognised when it is

probable that future economic benefits will flow to

the public entity and these benefits can be measured

reliably. The grant is recognised as income to the

extent that there are no further obligations arising

from the receipt of the grant. Government grants

received for the purpose of giving immediate financial

support with no future related costs are recognised

as revenue in the period in which they become

receivable. Government grants related to specific

expenditure are deferred and recognised in the year

during which the expenses are incurred.

Revenue comprises:

•  Net invoiced value of levies determined by the

Council, in terms of regulations issued in terms of

the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996 (MHSA) (Act

No. 29 of 1996). Levies are recognised as income

when they become receivable and the conditions

attached thereto have been met

•  Administrative Fines are levied by the Department

of Mineral Resources (DMR), in terms of Section

55 of the MHSA, for breaches of certain sections of

the same Act.  Administrative Fines are recorded as

Deferred Income when they become receivable

and are then recognised as income when

conditions attached thereto are met

•  Government transfers/funding: The DMR funds part

of the administrative activities of the Council offices

via a transfer payment. These funds are recognised

as income on receipt as there are no conditions

attached thereto.

1.9 Finance Income 

Finance income comprises interest receivable on

positive bank balances and funds invested, and the

fair value adjustment on initial recognition of financial

assets and liabilities. Interest income is accrued on a

time proportion basis, taking into account the

principal outstanding and the effective interest rate

over the period to maturity.
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1.10  Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful
Expenditure

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in

contravention of, or not in accordance with

requirements of any applicable legislation, including

the PFMA. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means

expenditure that was made in vain and would have

been avoided had reasonable care been exercised.

All irregular, wasteful, fruitless and unauthorised

expenditure is raised as a receivable until it can be

confirmed that it is irrecoverable and the MHSC has

condoned the expensing; in which case it is charged

against income.

1.11 Material Losses

Material losses are losses incurred that do not

comprise normal expenditure or income due to the

Council, and are not recovered.

1.12 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the

terms of the lease transfers substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as

assets at their fair value at inception, or if lower, at

the present value of the minimum lease payments.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included

in the statement of financial position as a finance

lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance

charges and reduction of the lease obligation, so as to

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability. Finance costs, which represent

the difference between the total lease commitments

and the fair value of the asset acquired, are charged

to the statement of financial performance over the

term of the relevant lease so as to produce a

constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

Operating lease payments 

Payments under operating leases are recognised in

the income statement on a straight line basis over

the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are

recognised in the income statement as an integral

part of the total lease expense.

1.13 Impairment of Assets

1.13.1 Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the

carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets

to determine whether there is any indication that

those assets may be impaired. If any such indication

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is

estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to

estimate the recoverable amount for an individual

asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value

less point of sale costs to sell and value in use. In

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows

are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax

discount rate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and the risks

specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to

be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount

of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
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recoverable amount. Impairment losses are

immediately recognised as an expense, unless the

relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under

another standard, in which case the impairment loss is

treated as a revaluation decrease under the standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,

the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its

recoverable amount, but so that the increased

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying

amount that would have been determined had no

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in

prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

1.13.2 Impairment of financial assets     

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through

profit and loss (FVTPL), are assessed for indicators of

impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets

are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as

a result of one or more events that occurred after the

initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated

future cash flows of the investment have been

impacted. For financial assets held at amortised cost,

the amount of the impairment is the difference

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present

value of estimated future cash-flows, discounted at the

original effective interest rate.

For all other financial assets, except unlisted shares

classified as available for sale, including redeemable

notes classified as available for sale, and finance lease

receivables, objective evidence of impairment could

include: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counter party, or default or delinquency in interest or

principal payments or it becoming probable that the

borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial

reorganisation.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced

by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets,

with the exception of trade receivables, where the

carrying amount is reduced through the use of an

allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited against

the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying

amount of the allowance account are recognised in

the surplus or deficit.

With the exception of available for sale equity

instruments, if in a subsequent period, the amount

of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease

can be related objectively to an event occurring

after the impairment was recognised, the previously

recognised impairment loss is reversed through

profit or loss to the extent that the carrying

amount of the investment at the date of the

impairment reversal, does not exceed what the

amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.

Accounts receivable, carried at

amortised cost, are assessed for

impairment on two levels:

•  Firstly, the Council separately assesses each

individually significant receivable for objective

evidence of impairment. If the Council determines

that no objective evidence of impairment exists

for an individually assessed receivable, it includes

the receivable in a group of receivables for

collective assessment of impairment

•  The Council then also assesses whether objective

evidence (of impairment) exists individually or

collectively for receivables that are not individually

significant

•  The Council’s receivables are grouped on a basis of

similar credit risk characteristics that are indicative

of receivables’ ability to pay all amounts due.
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1.14 Financial Instruments

Details of the significant accounting policies and

methods adopted, including the criteria for

recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis

on which income and expenses are recognised, 

in respect of each class of financial asset, financial

liability and equity instruments are disclosed below:

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are

recognised on the MHSC’s statement of financial

position when the MHSC becomes a party to the

contractual provision of the instrument and the

provisions create an obligation to receive or deli-

ver cash.

1.14.1 Financial assets

Initial Recognition

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a

trade date where the purchase or sale of an

investment is under a contract whose terms

required delivery of the investment within the

timeframe established by the market concerned,

and are initially measured at fair value, plus

transaction costs, except for those financial assets

classified as at fair value through profit or loss,

which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets can be classified into the following

specified categories: financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (FVTPL), held to maturity

investments, available for sale (AFS) financial assets

and loans and receivables. The classification depends

on the nature and purpose of the financial assets

and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

All financial assets of the MHSC are categorised as

loans and receivables.

Subsequent Measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments

are measured as set out below:

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that

have fixed or determinable payments that are not

quoted in an active market are classified as loans and

receivable. Loans and receivables measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method,

less any impairment losses. Interest income is

recognised by applying the effective interest rate,

except for short term receivables, where the

recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and

of allocating interest income over the relevant

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts

(including all fees on points paid or received that

form an integral part of the effective interest rate,

transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)

through the expected life of the financial asset, or,

where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is

recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments other than those financial assets

designated as at FVTPL.

1.14.2 Financial liabilities

Initial Recognition

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial

liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities. All

financial liabilities of the MHSC are classified as other

financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair

value, net of transaction costs. Employee entitlements
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are recognised when they accrue to employees. An

accrual is raised for the estimated liability as a result of

services rendered by employees up to the reporting

date. Termination benefits are recognised only when

the payment is made.

Subsequent Measurement

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest

method, with interest expense recognised on an

effective yield basis.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of

calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability

and of allocating interest expense over the relevant

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments

through the expected life of the financial liability, or,

where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the

obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled

or has expired.

1.15 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-

current assets that are held for use in the

production or supply of goods and services, rental

to others, or for administrative purposes, and are

expected to be used during more than one period. 

Initial recognition

The cost of property, plant and equipment are

recognised when it is probable that the future

economic benefits or service potential associated

with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of

the item to the entity can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical

cost less accumulated depreciation, and adjusted for

any impairments. Where significant parts of an item

of property, plant and equipment have different

useful lives, they are accounted for as separate

items.

Subsequent costs

The Council recognises in the carrying amount of

an item of property, plant and equipment, the cost of

replacing a part of such an item when that cost is

incurred if it is probable that the future economic

benefits embodied in the item will flow to the

Council and the cost of the item can be measured

reliably.  All other costs are recognised in the income

statement as expenses when incurred.

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged against the asset on a

straight line basis so as to fully depreciate the asset

to its residual value at the end of its useful life, from

the date available for use. Assets bought specifically

for a project and intended for donation at the end

of the project’s life are depreciated over the life of

the contract as the residual value (to the Council) at

that point would be nil. The assets’ residual values,

useful lives and methods of depreciation are

reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each

financial year-end.

Useful lives

The following are the estimated useful lives of the

categories of assets as well as the estimated

realisable values on disposal.
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Where residual values are expected to be negligible, they are reflected at nil value.

In terms of the requirements of GRAP 17 the useful lives of all asset items were reviewed by management at

year-end. The remaining useful lives’ expectations of some asset items differed from previous estimates.

Derecognition

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic

benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

Gains and losses

Gains and losses on disposal are included in the statement of financial performance and are determined by

comparing sales proceeds with carrying amounts.

1.16 Intangible Assets

Recognition

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Council’s developments is

recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

• Technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale

• An intention to complete the intangible asset for use or sale exists

• An ability to use or sell the intangible asset

• Ability to show how the intangible will generate future economic benefits or service potential

• Availability of technical, financial and other resources to complete the development

• Ability to reliably measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

ASSET LIFE IN YEARS

Information and Technology 5 - 10

Office equipment 5 - 10

Computer equipment 5 - 10

Computer software 2 - 8

Office Furniture – Chairs 10

Office Furniture – Cabinets 15

Office Furniture – Desks 10 - 15

Office Furniture – Fittings 10

Plant Duration of the contract or useful life

Leasehold improvements Remainder of the lease period

Vehicle 5 years 
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Subsequent costs

Amortisation

Each asset is amortised over its useful life once it is available for use. Internally-generated intangible assets are

also amortised on a straight-line basis over their lives, which is usually between two and eight years. The members

of Council assess the carrying value of each intangible asset annually and revisions or impairments are made

where it is considered necessary.

Useful lives

The following is the estimated useful lives and realisable value of intangibles. Where residual values are expected

to be negligible, they are reflected at nil value.

Derecognition

The carrying amount of intangible assets is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are

expected from its use or disposal.

Gains and losses

Gains and losses on disposal are included in the statement of financial performance and are determined by

comparing sales proceeds with carrying amounts.

1.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Council has a present legal constructive obligation as a result of a past event

and it is probable that this will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be estimated reliably.  Provisions

are determined as the present value of future cash flows using discounted cash flow techniques, where necessary.

1.18 Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed as commitments when the MHSC has a possible obligation that will probably

result in an outflow of economic benefits depending on occurrence or non-occurrence of a future event.

Disclosed amounts in respect of contingent liabilities are measured on the basis of the best estimate, using

experience from similar transactions or reports from independent experts.

1.19 Budget information

Budget is prepared and reported on the same basis of accounting as the annual financial statements, the

comparison of the budgeted statement of financial performance to the actual is reflected in note 20. 

ASSET LIFE IN YEARS ESTIMATED DISPOSAL VALUE PERCENTAGE

Intangible assets 2 - 8 Nil



MHSC Annual Report  l  2010/2011 56

ncials

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

2. Non exchange revenue

Levies Received 51 533 46 912 

State funding 5 358 5 118 

Administrative fines 130 9 

SARS refunds - 54 

TOTAL non exchange revenue 57 020 52 093 

Exchange revenue

3. Finance Income

Investments interest 6 308 6 419

Other Interest 52

Council Administration 80 105

6 388 6 576 

Fair value adjustment 112 659 

6 500 7 235 

4. Other Income

Royalty income 136 193 

Net actuarial gain 227 395 

363 588

The royalty income is managed by the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) in terms of a service

level agreement and involves the sale of Stone dust Bags developed through SIMRAC project COL501. The

royalty income is stated at fair value.  

The net actuarial gain represents the difference between the opening and closing balances of the accrued service

liability with respect to the Post Retirement Medical Aid Benefit Plan.
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5. Surplus from Operations

The surplus of R13.298 million is mainly as a result of delays in starting research projects.

5.1 Material Losses

No material losses were incurred for the period under review.

5.2 Irregular Expenditure

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

Opening balance 0 0

Add: Irregular Expenditure 1 364 799

Less: Amounts condoned less amounts not recoverable (799)

(not condoned) (1 364) 0

Irregular Expenditure awaiting condoning 0 0

This amount is included in the consulting expenses of the administration expense.

Incident

Appointment of the following three providers did not comply with the requirements of a

Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act:

1.  The MHSC did not solicit three quotations in procuring the services of a provider for provision of governance

review services valued at R63 840.00

2.  The MHSC did not use an open tender in securing the services of the Acting CFO after the passing away of

the then CFO to the value of R877 230.00

3. A supplier was engaged without a valid tax certificate to the value of R423 463.00  

5.3 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

No fruitless and wasteful spending was incurred. 
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

5.4 Research Expenditure

Research projects 

Rock falls 6 417 6 247

Rock bursts 676 68

Machinery and transport 1 270 545

Explosions and fires 105 124

Airborne pollutants 5 229 5 852

Physical hazards 260 -   

Occupational diseases 3 413 360

Special projects 4 088 5 451

Fair Value  adjustment - (185)

21 459 18 462 

5.5 Administrative Expenses

Insurance 160 143

Advertising and promotions 177 198 

Legal 321 132 

Courier and postage 218 -   

Management fees 154 126 

Audit fees - external 2 018 1 375 

Audit fees - internal 566 691 

Consulting 2 144 1 442 

Other 114 126 

Fair Value adjustment - (39)

5 871 4 194 

5.5.1 Auditors’ Remuneration

Audit fees - external 2 018 1 375
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

5.6 Staff Costs

The staff costs are made up as follows:

Salaries and wages 8 627 9 658

Recruitment 211 -   

Reimbursement travel 24 59

Staff training and welfare 193 220

9 055 9 937 

The MHSC's staff complement was on average 22 employees (The previous year number is 22 employees).

5.7 Operating Expenses

Other Rent 504 372 

Communication 130 -   

Property and equipment lease 2 097 1 426 

Loss on disposal 120 158 

Gain/Loss on Impairment of Assets - 755 

Gain/Loss on Derecognition of Assets -  51 

Impairment losses on receivables (note 7) 6 418 2 242 

Repairs and maintenance 110 83 

Stationery and computer expenses 1 109 712 

Travel and accommodation 473 505 

Seminars and meetings 147 601 

Telephone and Faxes 336 329 

Technology transfer - 117 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure - 903 

Entertainment - 171 

Relocation costs - 154 

Bad Debt - 2 408 

Exempt mines - corrections 811 -   

Fair Value adjustment - (28)

12 255 10 959 
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

5.8 Promotion of Health and Safety expenditure

130 9

130 9 

5.9 Finance costs

Finance costs consist of the following:

Fair value on financial assets 938 314

Interest on lease obligations 17 34

955 348

The MHSC rents two photocopiers: a Calabash and a Sharp.

The rate implicit in the relevant agreements, (of 17% and 13.3%, respectively) was used as a basis for estimating

the finance costs for the Calabash and Sharp Copiers.The prime lending rate was 15% and 10.5% respectively,

at the time of entering into the leases. The lease payments on the Calabash are linked to the prime lending rate,

whereas the sharp repayments are fixed.

The MHSC has entered into two year cellphone contracts at fixed rates with regards to three managers. The

cellphone costs are capitalised as finance leases using the prime lending rate at the date of the transaction
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Bank balances consist of cash and short-term, highly liquid investments that are held with registered banking

institutions with maturities of three months or less and that are subject to insignificant interest rate risk. Cash

and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost. The bank balances consist of the following:

Mine Safety Research account 267 325

Mine Safety Research investments 112 920 97 559

Total Mine Safety Research cash 113 187 97 884 

Administration bank account 1 404 1 174

Administrative Fines bank account 2 333 2 284

Petty cash 2 2

Credit card (4) (2)

116 921 101 342 

Analysis:

Cash on hand and balances with banks 4 002 3 783 

Short term investments 112 920 97 559 

116 921 101 342 

As required in section 7(2) and 7(3) of the Public Finance Management Act, the National Treasury has approved

the local banks where the bank accounts are held. Central Energy Fund (Pty) Limited provides treasury functions

on behalf of Council through terms defined in a service level agreement.
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

7. Levy and Other Receivables

Levy receivables (non-exchange) 21 385 24 191 

Amounts written off during the current year -2 407 

Exempted mines - corrections -811 -

Gross amount 20 574 21 784 

Impairment of Debtors (15 738) (8 560)

Opening balance (8 560) (6 317)

Provision for the year (7 178) (2 243)

Total provision (15 738) (8 560)

Net non exchange levy receivables: 4 837 13 225 

Other receivables (exchange)

Financial Solutions 6 233 6 233 

Provision for the year - -6 233 

Bad debts -6 233 -

Sundry debtors 391 1 326 

Deposits: Rent 518 518 

Prepayments 229 5

Net other receivables 1 138 1 849 

Total non exchange and other receivables 5 974 15 074 

The impairment of receivables has been determined by reference to past default experience and the current

economic environment.

Current 220 145 

31 to 60 days - -   

61 to 90 days 5 202 6 211 

91 to 120 days - 0

121 days plus 15 153 15 428 

Total 20 574 21 784 

Levy receivables are shown at amortised cost as noted below:

Gross carrying amount 21 512 22 335 

Less: Fair value adjustment -938 -551

Less: Impairment Provision -15 738 -8 560 

Net carrying amount 4 837 13 225 

 It is estimated that, due to their short term nature, the gross carrying amount of Other Receivables approximates

it's fair value hence no fair valuation adjustment was done
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant Office Office Comp Research Comp ICT Leased Leasehold Motor Total
Equip Furn Equip Equip Softw Assets Improvem Vehicle 

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Year ended 31 March 2011

Opening net
58 185 225 351 574 - 573 167 - - 2 133 carrying amount

Gross carrying amount 1 346 343 510 904 2 482 - 689 366 - - 6 640 

Accumulated depreciation -1 288 -158 -285 -553 -1 908 - -116 -199 - - -4 507 

Additions - - - 214 969 - 13 34 1 384 95 2 710 

Assets retired and donated - -6 -0 -64 -45 - -3 -1 -120 

Adjustment - 1 -0 -1 - - - 1 0 

Depreciation -58 -23 -13 -125 -328 - -154 -94 -23 -818 

Reclassification -92 - - - - - - 92 -   

Net carrying amount 
-0 64 212 376 1 169 - 430 106 1 453 95 3 905 

@ March 31 2011

Gross carrying amount - 125 542 725 1 771 696 299 1 476 95 5 729 

Accumulated depreciation - -61 -330 -349 -602 - -267 -193 -23 - -1 825 

Year ended 31 March 2010

Opening net
192 774 275 425 1 871 2 - - - - 3539carrying amount

Gross carrying amount 1 345 1 058 535 869 3 991 23 - - - - 7 821 

Accumulated depreciation -1 153 -284 -260 -444 -2 120 -2 - - - - -4 282 

Adjustments - -66 -4 -6 -59 38 78 -19 

Additions 113 4 161 - - 305 - - - 583 

Assets retired and donated - -30 -13 -62 -111 - - - - - -216 

Gain/loss impairment - -2 - -18 -735 - - - - - -755 

Depreciation -135 -145 -34 -155 -372 - -115 - - - -956 

Reclassification - -292 -3 -12 - -40 305 -42 

Net carrying amount 
57 350 225 333 594 - 573 - - - 2 134 

@ March 31 2010

Gross carrying amount 1 345 709 510 904 2 482 - 689 - - - 6 640

Accumulated depreciation -1 288 -357 -285 -553 -1 153 - -116 - - - -3 752 

Accumulated Impairment -2 - -18 -735 - - - - - -755  
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

9. Intangible Assets

Opening net carrying amount 132 168 
Gross carrying amount 787 701
Accumulated amortisation (655) (533)
Amortisation during year (42) (138)
Reclassification -62 
Additions 141 144
Adjustments - 19
Net carrying amount @ March 31  2011 231 131 
Gross carrying amount 907 787 
Accumulated amortisation (676) (655)
Intangible assets comprise of computer software licences

10. Exchange Payables

Trade payables 2 970 6 657 
Payroll payables 214 297 
Total exchange payables 3 184 6 954 
Non-exchange Payables
Unallocated deposits: short term portion 52 36
Unallocated deposits: long term portion - 709 

Total non-exchange payables 52 745 

Trade payables are reflected at amortised cost.

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are payable within 30 days. No interest is charged when the 
amount becomes overdue. The gross carrying amount of the trade payables (before the fair value adjustment of 
R112 052.03 is R2 910 798.88). The 2010 amounts are R 9 000 and R 1 808 00 respectively.

There has been no default on payment to any creditor and no terms and conditions were renegotiated.

Included in trade payables is an accrual for leave pay, which is based on current salary rates and leave days due
at the reporting period.  

It is estimated that due to their short term nature, the gross carrying amount of the other payables approximates
their fair value. 

According to the MHSC Act, debt only prescribes in 30 years, which means that the recognition of these unknown
deposits as income would be inappropriate.
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

11. Unutilised Administrative Fines

Opening balance 1 670 1 455 

Administrative fines collected 50 224 

Unutilised during the year for promotion of -130 (9)
Health and Safety             

Closing balance 1 590 1 670 

This liability represents the amount collected on admin fines that has not yet been expended. The liability should

thus ordinarily equal the amount of the related (Admin Fines) bank balance in note 6.   The difference comprises

promotion of health and safety expenditure that has been approved by the DMR Minister and paid for by the

MHSC, pending reimbursement by the DMR.

12. Provisions

12.1 Provision for Performance Bonuses

The provision for performance bonuses is based on estimated performance levels and salary rates prevalent at

the reporting date.

Opening balance 760 758 

Additional provisions 680 760 

Paid during the year (677) (528)

Saving on previous provision 0 (230)

Closing balance 763 760 
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13. Post Retirement Medical Benefit

13.1 Background

The Council has a commitment to cover medical aid costs for all employees appointed prior to 1 July 2003 in

the event of them retiring while in the service of the Council.  This scheme is valued by a qualified actuary on

an annual basis.

13.2 Present Value of Fund Obligation

The amount included in the financial position arising from the MHSC’s obligation in

respect of the post-retirement medical benefit plan is as follows:

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

In-service members 3% 427 441

Continued Members 17% 574 691

Total Accrued Service Liability 12% 1 001 1 132

The changes in the accrued service liability since the previous valuation present value

of fund obligations purpose (as at 31 March 2010) can be explained as follows:

Actual

R’000

Accrued Service Liability 1 132

Interest Cost 107

Current Service Cost 43

Benefits payments (55)

Projected Accrued Service Liability 1 228

Actuarial gain (227)

Accrued Service Liability at 31.3.2011 1 001

The actuarial gain arose largely on account of the following:

•  To a corrected interpretation of the MHSC’s subsidy policy that only covers a member and then their

spouse only after ill-health or death of member.

•  The gain due to this interpretation is partially offset by the 0.5% decrease in the net discount rate (the

difference between the discount rate and the subsidy inflation assumptions).
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13.3 Future Service Liability (current service cost)

The future service liability (or current service cost) is calculated as the present day value of the employer’s

subsidy to current in-service members that is deemed to accrue over the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012.

The estimated future service liability for this period is R38 000.  (The corresponding figure for the period 1 April

2010 to 31 March 2011 was R43 000).

13.4 Projection of Results to 31 March 2012

The projected results from 31 March 2011 to 31 March 2012, assuming that the

experience follows the assumptions exactly, is as follows:

Actual

R’000

Accrued Service Liability 1 001

Interest Cost 94

Current Service Cost 38

Expected benefit payments (April 2011- March 2012) (38)

Projected Accrued Service Liability 1095

13.5 Sensitivity Analysis

The results are dependent on the assumption used.  The table below shows how the past service cost as at 

31 March 2010 would be impacted by changes to these assumptions:

Accrued Service
Liabilities as at %

2011 R’000 change

In-Service Members 

Assumptions as above 1 001 -

Discount rate – increases by 1% p.a. 873 -13%

Discount rate – reduces by 1% p.a. 1 162 16%                      

Subsidy inflation – increases by 1% p.a. 1 166 16%                    

Subsidy inflation – reduces by 1% p.a. 868 12%

Retirement age – 55 1 285 28%

The tables below show how the current service cost and interest cost for the year to 31 March 2012 would be

impacted by changes to the assumptions:
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Accrued Service
Current Service Cost

2011 - 2012 %
R’000 change

In-Service Members

Assumptions as above 38 -

Discount rate – increases by 1% p.a. 31 18%

Discount rate – reduces by 1% p.a. 48 26%                      

Subsidy inflation – increases by 1% p.a. 48 26%                    

Subsidy inflation – reduces by 1% p.a. 31 18%

Retirement age – 55 63 66%

Interest Cost %
2011 R’000 change

In-Service and Continuation Members 

Assumptions as above 94 -

Discount rate – increases by 1% p.a. 90 -3%

Discount rate – reduces by 1% p.a. 98 4%                      

Subsidy inflation – increases by 1% p.a. 110 17%                    

Subsidy inflation – reduces by 1% p.a. 81 -13%

Retirement age – 55 122 30%

13.6 Employer Subsidy Policy

The subsidy that has been valued is as follows:

Employees employed before 1 August 2003 are entitled to a 100% subsidy of Liberty Health Medical Scheme

membership costs on the Liberty Platinum Provia option on retirement or its equivalent.  In case of occupational

disability, illness or death in service or death on retirement of a member, their spouse may continue membership,

in which case MHSC will continue to contribute 70% of these membership costs.

Employees employed from 1 August 2003 do not qualify for a subsidy on retirement. 

Any changes that the employer may make to the subsidy policy in future that may have an impact on the liability

have been ignored.  It is assumed that members remain on Liberty Health Medical Scheme or its equivalent 

in future.



Mine Health and Safety Council Annual Report 2010/2011

69 MHSC Annual Report  l  2010/201169

Finan

13.7 Summary of Membership Data

Number of Members

Males Females Total Total

at 2011 at 2010

In-Service Members 1 2 3 3

Continuation Members 1 0 1 1

Total Members 2 2 4 4

13.8 Assumptions

The assumptions are shown in the following table:

As at 2011 As at 2010

(a) Discount rate 9.2% 9.3%

(b) Subsidy inflation 7.4% 7.0%

(c) Retirement age 60 60

(d)  Proportion of retiring members 80% 80%
who are married

(e) Age of spouse Husbands 5 years older Husbands 5 years older 
than wives than wives

(f) Mortality of in-service members in accordance with the SA in accordance with the SA 
85-90 (Light) ultimate  85-90 (Light) ultimate 
table table

(g) Mortality of continuation members in accordance with the PA in accordance with the PA 
(90) ultimate male and (90) ultimate male and 
female tables female tables 

(h) Annual rate of withdrawal owing to no withdrawals no withdrawals
resignation before retirement

A discount rate of 9.2% per year has been used to place the present value on future benefit payments.  This is

consistent with the IAS 19 requirement that the discount rate used should be the long-term government bond

yield. The rate of 9.2% is the yield on the R186 government bond as at March 8 2011. 
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13.9 Movement Over the Current and Past 3 Years

31-MAR-10
ACTUAL
R’000 

31-MAR-11
ACTUAL
R’000

31-MAR-12
PROJECTED
R’000

Change in Liability

Opening Liability 844 1 132 1 001

Service Cost 600 43 38

Interest Cost 121 107 94

Actuarial (Gain) / Loss (394) (227) -

Benefit Paid (39) (55) (38)

Closing Liability 1 132 1 001 1 095

Present value of defined benefit obligation 1 132 1 001 1 095

Unrecognised Actuarial Gains / (Losses) - - -

Net Liability / (Asset) 1 132 1 001 1 095

Service Cost 600 43 38

Interest Cost 121 107 94

Recognised Actuarial (Gains) / Losses (394) (227) -

Amount charged to Statement of 
financial performance

327 (76) 132

Reconciliation Opening Liability / (Asset) 844 1 132 1 001

Payment to members (39) (55) (38)

Change to statement of financial performance 327 (76) 132

Closing Liability / (Asset) 1 132 1 001 1 095

Key Actuarial Assumptions Discount Rate 9.30% 9.20% 9.20%

Medical inflation rate 7.00% 7.40% 7.40%
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

14. Finance lease liability

Finance lease liability 124 189 

Less: Current portion 59 95 

Long term portion 64 94

Reconciliation between the minimum lease payments and the present value:

Minimum lease payments 124 189 

Payable within 1 year 74 117 

Payable within 2 - 5 years 71 112 

Less future finance charges 21 40 

Present value of minimum lease payment 124 189

Payable within 1 year 59 95

Payable within 2 - 5 years 64 94

Terms and conditions 

All the photocopier leases are for an agreed period i.e 60 months, with an option to renew, and no escalation.

All the cellphone leases are for an agreed period i.e 24 months, with an option to renew, and no escalation.

The related finance lease liabilities are secured by office equipment.  
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15. Prior year adjustment

In 07/08 a provision for exempted mines was made for R342 000.00 and in 08/09 when these were being written
off an entry was made straight to the statement of financial performance instead of provisions account. The
effect was to duplicate the expense.

The effect of the correction is:
Increase in reserves by R342 000.00
Reduction in provisions  R342 000.00

In the 08/09 financial year, there were processing errors that resulted in the un-cleared entries in the payroll
control accounts.  The effect of the corrections is:

Increase in reserves by R38 214.54 and
Decrease in sundry receivables by R38 214.54

In 09/10 financial year an amount of 153 073.41 was incorrectly raised as an accrual and this resulted in
overstating expenditure in 09/10.  The effect of correcting this error is:

Decrease in accruals by R153 073.41 and
Increase in reserves by R153 073.41

Transactions with a value of R210 401.88 were incorrectly processed in 2010/11 while in fact they related to
2009/10 financial year, the effect of correcting this cut off error is:

Decrease in expenses in 10/11 by R210 401.88
Decrease in reserves by R210 401.88

The summarised effect is as follows:

2011 2010

Accumulated surplus R’000 R’000  

Balance as previously reported in March 31 2010 106 774

107 231

457 

Decrease in expense -210 -   

Decrease in provision - 342

Decrease in sundry receivable - -38

Decrease in liabilities - 153

Restated balance at March 31 107 021 107 231
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16. Reconciliation of  surplus for the year to cash generated from operations

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

Net surplus per income statement 13 298 14 912 

Adjusted for: (Non cash flow items)

Adjustment to reserves -211 457 

Depreciation and amortisation 860 1 095 

Depreciation adjustment - 42 

Provisions 3 2 

Post-retirement medical benefit -131 -221 

Interest received -6 388 -7 235 

Loss on disposal of assets 120 158 

Gain/Loss on Derecognition - 50 

Gain/Loss Impairment of assets - 754 

Operating surplus before changes in 7 551 10 014 
working capital

(Decrease) / Increase in unutilised administration fines -80 215 

(Decrease) / Increase in unallocated deposits -693 113 

Decrease in accounts receivable 9 100 4 743 

Decrease in accounts payable -3 770 -709 

Cash generated by operations 12 108 14 376 
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17. Commitments

17.1 Operating Leases

At the reporting date, the Council had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases,

which fall due as follows:

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

1 year 2 202 1 071

2 to 5  years – Premises rental 1 148 5 357

3 350 6 428

Term in years 1.5 5 

Escalation 9% 9%

17.2 Research Projects

Authorised and contracted 31 520 20 823 

Authorised but not contracted for 64 888 53 805 

Total 96 408 74 628 

These commitments represent contingent liabilities where it is uncertain whether a present obligation exists, an

outflow of resources is not probable or the amount of the outflow cannot be reliably estimated. 
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18. MHSC Members’ and Executive Management Emoluments

18.1   MHSC and Committee members do not earn any fees or receive emoluments. Labour Members
get reimbursed for travel costs for Council meetings.

18.2  The independent Audit Committee members are remunerated as follows per sitting:

-  Chairperson – R7 500
-  Other members – R5 500

18.3 Executive Management

MHSC pays bonuses in September each year with respect to the previous financial year ending 31st March. 

A provision has been made in the current year for performance bonuses that will only be confirmed during

September 2011.

YEAR END 31 MARCH 2011 SALARIES ALLOWANCES COMPANY
CONTRIBUTIONS

PERFORMANCE
BONUSES

TOTAL
R’000

Ms. P. Maruping April 2010 - Oct 2010 646 84 16 130 876

Mr. T. Gazi Nov 2010-March 2011 384 -   6 - 390

Mr. D.S. Molapo Oct 2010 
- March 2011

467 -   19 - 486

Mr. N. Singh 877 71 35 108 1 090

Total 2 374 155 76 238 2 842

YEAR END 31 MARCH 2011 SALARIES ALLOWANCES COMPANY
CONTRIBUTIONS

PERFORMANCE
BONUSES

TOTAL
R’000

Ms. P. Maruping 994 76 26 - 1 096

Ms. D. Kgoele 759 113 25 - 897

Mr. N. Singh 799 84 24 - 907

Total 2552 273 75 - 2 900



MHSC Annual Report  l  2010/2011 76

19. Related Party Transactions

The only non-arms length transactions with a related party were with the DMR with regard to the annual non-

conditional grant.

The amount due has been fully receipted and there is thus no balance outstanding.  An amount  of R23 000 is

owed to the DMR with respect to fax rental costs paid for by DMR before the MHSC could open such accounts

in it’s own name.

19.1 Transactions with Key Management

Key management consists of executive personnel made up of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer

and Chief Research and Operations Officer and their family members.  

There were no loans to key management during the year.  The following is a summary of transactions with

entities whose members participate at the Council..

ncials
MHSC MEMBERS ENTITY TRANSACTION 

AMOUNT 
BALANCE OWING

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

H. Rex Anglo Ashanti Ltd 4,242 4,399 182 0.0

T. Masondo Anglo Coal 982 1,043 257 369

M. Munroe Lonmin 2,254 0.0 1,102 0.0

Dr. L. La Grange Anglo Platinum 5,670 6,209 1,263              1,579

H.C. van der Merwe Shaft Sinkers 12  0.0 0.0

AUDIT COMMITTEE FEES NUMBER OF MEETINGS

Dr. L. Kona

Ms. L. Fosu 13 98

Ms. T. Sihlaba 10 55

Mr. Z. Fihlani 6 33

23

15

11

11
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20. Reconciliation of the surplus to the budget

Actual Budget Variance

R’000 R’000 R’000

Income 63 883 70 126 6 243 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 57 020 58 208 1 188 

Finance income 6 500 11 918 5 418

Other income 363 - -363 

Expenditure 50 586 69 192 18 607

Research expenditure 21 459 44 978 23 519

Administrative expenses 5 871 6 485 614

Staff costs 9 055 11 101 2 046

Depreciation and amortisation 860 932 72

Operating expenses 12 255 4 340 -7 915

Promotion of Health and Safety 130 1 272 1 142

Finance costs 955 84 -871

Surplus for the year 13 298 934 -12 364 

The variance between the budget and actual  of  R12.364 million is due to a negative variance in revenue of

R6.243 (mainly due to a lower interest income as a result of a drop in interest rates) and a positive variance of

R18.607 million on expenditure. The main contributor being project expenditure.

Spending on projects is based on the milestones of contracts/projects that are completed and invoiced and does

not reflect values of signed contracts, so R21.459 million of actual expenditure in research does not include

R31.520 million of outstanding disbursements as shown in note 17.2.  The variance of R23.519 million on projects

is part of the R31.520million of outstanding disbursements in note 17.2. The negative variance on operating

expenses is due to an increase in provision for bad debts by R6 million.  
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21. Financial Instruments

Financial instruments by category:

2011
FINANCIAL ASSETS

FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT AND LOSS 

AVAILABLE 
FOR SALE

EFFECTIVE
INTEREST RATE

LOANS AND
RECEIVABLES

DESIGNATED HELD
MATURITY

Trade Receivables - - - - 4,837

Other Receivables - - - - 1,138

Investments - - - 5.04% 112 920

Cash at Bank - - - 5.00% 4,001

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS
OTHER

DESIGNATED 

Trade and Other Payables - 3,248

Unallocated Deposits - 52

Debtors with Credit Balances - 157

Unutilised Administrative Fines - 1,590

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS
OTHER

DESIGNATED 

Trade and Other Payables - 7,048

Unallocated Deposits - 745

Debtors with Credit Balances - 511

Unutilised Administrative Fines - 1,670

2010
FINANCIAL ASSETS

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AVAILABLE 
OR SALE
LOANS AND

RECEIVABLES DESIGNATED
HELD TO
MATURITY

Trade Receivables - - - 13,225

Other Receivables - - - 1,507

Cash and Cash Equivalents - - - 101,342
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21.1 Overall Financial Risk Management

The Treasury function of the MHSC is outsourced to the Central Energy Fund (CEF) and they implement risk

mitigation measures on behalf of the entity in terms of a formal agreement.

21.2 Sensitivity Analysis

The MHSC’s surplus funds are not highly sensitive to interest rate fluctuations due to the fact that the investment

periods are short.  The average movement in the overdraft rate during the financial year was about 150 basis

points.  A downward movement of interest rates by 1.50% would not have a material impact on the surplus

funds at year-end.

21.3 Market Risk

21.3.1 Interest Rate Risk

The MHSC’s activities are of such a nature as to not materially expose the entity to interest rate risks.  However,

the MHSC is exposed to interest rate risk as it invests considerable surplus funds.  The relevant risks are managed

by the CEF.  The risk mitigation measures include the fact that the surplus funds are invested at fixed rates for

periods of 180 days and shorter with reputable commercial banks.

21.3.2 Other Price Risks 

The MHSC is not exposed to price risks on its purchases and research expenses.    Prices for future purchases

and sales of goods and services are generally established on normal commercial terms direct with suppliers and

customers. The MHSC considers the price risk to be insignificant.

21.3.3 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are determined as described in note 1.14 above.

There has been no change to the entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risk.

21.4 Capital Risk

As the MHSC does not have borrowings, it is not exposed to capital risk.
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21.5 Credit Risk

Financial assets, which potentially subject the MHSC to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash,

short-term deposits and trade receivables.  The MHSC’s cash equivalents and short-term deposits are placed with

high-credit quality financial institutions.  Trade receivables are presented net of the allowance for doubtful debt.

Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is concentrated in the Mining sector, but is limited due to the large

number of customers comprising the MHSC’s customer base and their dispersion across different geographical

areas.  Accordingly, the MHSC has no significant concentration of credit risk.  The gross carrying amounts of

financial assets included in the financial position represent the MHSC’s exposure to credit risk in relation to these

assets.  The MHSC does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty.  

21.6 Liquidity Risk

The MHSC manages any liquidity risk it may face by maintaining adequate reserves and liquid resources by

continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cashflows.  The carrying amounts of financial liabilities included

in the financial position represent the MHSC’s exposure to liquidity risk in gross relation to these liabilities.

Accordingly as reflected in note 10, the MHSC has no significant concentrations of liquidity risk as there are no

contractual financial liabilities.

21.6.1 Maturity and Carrying Value Analysis

22. 2010 World Cup expenditure

The Council did not incur promotional and or ticket expenses that relate to the 2010 World Cup.

23. Subsequent Events

There were no subsequent events to the statement of financial position date.

2012 CARRYING
AMOUNT

CONTRACTUAL
CASH FLOWS

6 MONTHS OR
MORE

6 MONTHS OR
LESS

Trade payables 2,970 2,970 - 2,970

Payroll 214 214 214 214

Unallocated deposits 52 52 52

2010 CARRYING
AMOUNT

CONTRACTUAL
CASH FLOWS

6 MONTHS OR
MORE

6 MONTHS OR
LESS

Trade payables 6,657 6,657 - 6,657

Payroll 297 297 - 297

Unallocated deposits 745 745 709 36
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24. MHSC CONTACT DETAILS

Physical address: Block B7, Woodmead Business Park, 145 Western Service Road, 

Woodmead, South Africa

Postal address: Private Bag X63, Braamfontein, 2017, South Africa

Telephone No: +27 11 656 1797  

Facsimile No: +27 11 656 1796

Email: info@mhsc.org.za

Website: www.mhsc.org.za
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Mine Health and Safety Council

Building B7, Woodmead Business Park, Western Service Road, Woodmead, South Africa

Private Bag X63, Braamfontein 2017, South Africa

Tel. no: +27 11 656 1797  •  Fax. no: +27 11 656 1796

www.mhsc.org.za


